FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/12/2022 2:35 PM
No. 54425-3

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/13/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101077-0

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORATION,

Respondent,

٧.

SEATTLE TUNNEL PARTNERS; a joint venture; TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION; and DRAGADOS USA, INC.,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

Seattle Tunnel Partners (STP) seeks review of the appellate decision in *Wash. State Dep't of Transp. v.*Seattle Tunnel Partners, Wash. Ct. of App. No. 54425-3
II (June 14, 2022) ("Opinion") (copy attached) on the following three grounds:

First, the appellate decision conflicts with this Court's analysis of Differing Site Conditions (DSC) in *Bignold v. King Cnty.*, 65 Wn.2d 817, 821-22, 399 P.2d 611 (1965). Under *Bignold*, contractors are entitled to rely on Contract Documents that disclose latent or subsurface conditions they are likely to encounter during construction. The Contract Documents at issue here disclosed that the Tunnel Boring Machine (TBM) might encounter boulders, wood, and concrete debris, but not steel. Steel was thus a DSC as a matter of law under *Bignold* and the Contract.

Had the trial court given STP's jury instruction stating the contractual risk allocation to which the parties agreed –

as **Bignold** required and STP repeatedly requested – the jury would have decided this crucial issue in STP's favor. See also Berschauer/Phillips Const. Co. v. Seattle Sch. **Dist. No. 1**, 124 Wn.2d 816, 826-27, 881 P.2d 986 (1994) (enforcing contractual allocation of risk). But the trial court instead erroneously adopted a different DSC instruction, adding two unnecessary and confusing elements to which the parties did not agree - reasonable reliance and foreseeability, elements that sound in *tort* – apparently based on King Cnty. v. Vinci Const. Grands Projects, 191 Wn. App. 142, 165-66, 364 P.3d 784 (2015), aff'd on other grnds., 188 Wn.2d 618 (2017). Vinci is easily distinguished because the DSC encountered in Vinci (transitions) was disclosed in the contract, whereas the DSC encountered here (steel) was not disclosed in the Contract Documents. *Bignold* is controlling and *Vinci* is not. This conflict with *Bignold* warrants review.

<u>Second</u>, the appellate decision conflicts with the appellate court's decision in *Cook v. Tarbert Logging*, *Inc.*, 190 Wn. App. 448, 360 P.3d 855 (2015). *Cook* squarely addresses the prejudicial impact of an adverse inference jury instruction based on alleged spoliation:

In practice, an adverse inference instruction often ends litigation—it is too difficult a hurdle for the spoliator to overcome.

190 Wn. App. at 466 (quoting **Zubulake v. UBS Warburg, LLC**, 220 F.R.D. 212, 219-20 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)). Yet this appellate decision found such an instruction "harmless." Opinion 30. This conflict also warrants review.

<u>Third</u>, the foregoing conflicts involve issues of substantial public importance. For instance, the appellate decision fails to respect the contractual allocation of risk under *Berschauer/Phillips*, depriving STP of the benefit of its bargain under the unambiguous terms of the Design-Build Contract. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the appellate decision's DSC analysis, including its holding sanctioning the trial court's erroneous DSC instructions, conflict with this Court's decision in *Bignold*, where the Contract Documents did not disclose steel in the tunnel alignment?
- 2. Does the appellate decision's spoliation analysis conflict with *Cook*, which recognizes as the record here confirms that spoliation instructions are highly prejudicial and not "harmless error" as the appellate court erroneously held?¹

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

In December 2010, WSDOT selected STP to construct the State Route 99 tunnel replacing the Alaskan

¹ If the Court grants review, it also should review the trial court's failure to instruct the jury that "Reference Documents" are not "Contract Documents." STP will address the significance of this additional issue in its supplemental brief if review is granted. That brief will also identify issues that the Court of Appeals declined to reach that will be relevant on remand. This Court should either consider them or remand them. RAP 13.7(b).

Way Viaduct. RP 687, 708-09, 2205. The Design-Build Contract governing the project required STP to provide a TBM "capable of breaking up or digesting boulders, wood and concrete debris as described in the" Geotechnical Baseline Report (GBR). Ex 4 at 483 (§ 2.32.5.1.3). Neither the GBR, nor any other Contract Document, identified steel in the tunnel alignment, so the TBM was not designed to mine through steel.²

The TBM struck steel on December 4, 2013, progress slowed significantly, and by the 6th STP stopped to investigate because it was practically impossible to advance.³ On the 9th, WSDOT first informed STP that the TBM had struck Test Well 2 ("TW-2") – a 108-foot-long steel well casing, made of 93 feet of 8-inch diameter pipe with 3/8-inch-thick steel walls, and 15 feet of steel screen

² Ex 5; RP 713-16, 879, 1040, 1042-43, 1141, 1143-46, 1209, 1530, 1892, 2246, 3886-87, 3936, 4147-48, 4289.

³ RP 1022, 1945, 4029, 4545-47; Ex 2751 at 2-3.

at the bottom.⁴ WSDOT installed TW-2 in 2002. RP 1287. Yet critically here, no Contract Document identified TW-2's steel well casing. RP 2200.

The TBM "suffered serious and extensive damage." Ex 2751 at 5-6, 9-10. STP spent over two years gaining access to, inspecting, and repairing the TBM before it could safely resume tunneling in early January 2016.⁵ The fully operational tunnel opened for traffic in February 2019.⁶

STP asserted that the steel well casing was a DSC, contractually defined as a subsurface or latent physical condition that substantially or materially differs from the conditions identified in the Contract Documents. Under the parties' agreement, the Contract Documents are the GBR, the Environmental Baseline Report (EBR), and the Geotechnical and Environment Data Report (GEDR). Ex 3

⁴ RP 1023, 1287-88, 5158; Ex 2652 at 1.

⁵ Ex 2751 at 9-10; RP 4035-44, 4071, 5505.

⁶ RP 777, 3839.

at 12. WSDOT denied STP's DSC claim, asserting that the 2003 GEDR Supplement identified the steel well casing.⁷ But the 2003 GEDR Supplement is a Reference Document, not a Contract Document, and the Contract Documents *expressly prohibited* bidders from relying on Reference Documents. Ex 2 at 16-17 (§ 3.3); RP 1695.

Following the pipe strike, STP endeavored to record and preserve all steel fragments and boulders found in or near the TBM. CP 3228-29. As early as December 10, 2013, STP's Deputy Project Manager, Greg Hauser, instructed STP personnel in writing that the recovered pieces of TW-2 and boulders should be retained. CP 3230. This direction was promptly confirmed as completed:

The items are all together, covered up with plastic, and out of sight of the gates. . . . The crew has been told not to move the stuff around, and just leave it alone.

⁷ See Ex 115 at 2, Ex 2671 at 8-9, Ex 2696 at 1.

CP 3230-31 (paragraphing omitted). The pallet with pipe pieces and the boulders, and the other pipe pieces, were located inside the STP yard, a five-acre private site surrounded by fencing and constantly guarded. CP 3241.

date. STP later (unknown) General Superintendent Tom McMahon gave a routine order to the night foreman to "clean the place up." CP 3245. Roughly two weeks later, McMahon asked foreman Jeff Huber to move the pallet with the steel pieces and boulders to the storage warehouse. CP 3245-46. When Huber did not find the pallet that had some of the pipe pieces on it stored in its usual spot, he spoke with project workers, scoured the project site, and visited every location to which waste was removed. Id. Despite an exhaustive search of several disposal sites, Huber was unable to locate those pipe pieces or the boulders. CP 3247. Houser later also misplaced – and could not find – one of the journals he maintained detailing the project and its progression around the time of the pipe strike. CP 3248-50.

Despite the loss of these items, STP preserved (1) a 55-foot section of the steel pipe that was removed from above the TBM (CP 3243); (2) several fragments of mangled steel pipe, which totaled around two feet and were found in the muck bin on January 2, 2014 (*id.*); (3) numerous other items related to the TBM damage, including the main bearing, cutter tools, and other material removed from the TBM (CP 3260-62); and (4) the bulk of Hauser's journals (CP 3249).

The trial court expressly found that "STP did not intentionally destroy or hide the missing pipe pieces and boulders" and that "Hauser did not intentionally destroy or hide the missing journal volume." CP 3250 (F/F 122-23). It nevertheless gave two devastating adverse-inference jury instructions, which WSDOT repeatedly emphasized

throughout the trial.⁸ The trial court's spoliation rulings barred STP from responding to WSDOT's allegations.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found that the steel well casing was not a DSC, awarding WSDOT \$57.2 million in liquidated damages. CP 10659-63. STP timely appealed. CP 10748-859. The Court of Appeals affirmed, albeit while refusing to reach most of the key issues STP raised in the trial court and on appeal. See attached Opinion.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

- A. The appellate decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the appellate courts, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).
 - 1. The appellate decision's Differing Site Condition analysis conflicts with this Court's decision in *Bignold*.

Courts "hold parties to their contracts." **Berschauer/Phillips**, 124 Wn.2d at 826-27. Indeed, this

10

⁸ See, e.g., RP 602-05, 1356-58, 3765-73, 5040-46, 5071, 5128-29, 5194-95, 5199-5203, 6332, 6335-37, 6395.

Court recognized in *Berschauer/Phillips* that if they did not, the "construction industry in particular would suffer, for it is in this industry that we see most clearly the importance of the precise allocation of risk as secured by contract." *Id.* Thus, where (as here) a construction contract includes a clear DSC clause, that clause must be applied as written.

Consistent with the parties' agreement, STP repeatedly proffered a jury instruction precisely tracking the contractual DSC definition (CP 9012, 9594, 10069):

STP bears the burden of proving that a differing site condition exists by showing that the actual subsurface or latent physical conditions at the Site are substantially or materially different from the conditions identified in the [GBR], the [EBR], or the [GEDR].

This proposed instruction simply repeats the contractual DSC definition, which reflects the parties' unambiguous risk allocation in the comprehensive Contract Documents.

Rather than giving this correct instruction, the trial court erroneously adopted an incorrect DSC instruction,

adding two irrelevant and confusing noncontractual elements that the parties did not agree upon, apparently based on *Vinci*. 9 As discussed *infra*, the appellate decision's DSC analysis squarely conflicts with this Court's authoritative analysis in *Bignold* (as well as the riskallocation principles in *Berschauer/Phillips*, quoted above) and finds no support in the appellate court's decision in *Vinci*.

The *Bignold* contract indicated that excavated materials would be used for roadway construction but failed to disclose that those materials contained wet material and "huge boulders" later discovered during the project. 65 Wn.2d at 819. This Court affirmed that these materials constituted changed conditions. *Id.* at 822. Here

-

⁹ See CP 10679 (Court's Inst. 13, adding reasonable reliance and foreseeability). STP objected to this instruction, tried to fix it, and objected to WSDOT's proposed instruction. CP 10359-60, 10441-42; RP 5852-53, 6126, 6144-45, 6146-47, 6149, 6241.

too, the steel well casing is substantially and materially different from the subsurface conditions identified in the Contract Documents (e.g., boulders, wood, and concrete debris) so it is a DSC as a matter of law. Had the trial court correctly instructed the jury on this issue in accordance with *Bignold* and *Berschauer/Phillips*, STP would have prevailed. The Court of Appeals cited *Bignold*, but failed to address STP's argument that it is controlling.¹⁰

_

¹⁰Where, as here, a jury instruction is legally erroneous, prejudice is presumed. *See, e.g., Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 251, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). And here, prejudice is manifest: not only did the jury reach a result that is legally untenable under *Bignold* and the Contract Documents, but it inexplicably rejected the contrary determination of the Disputes Review Board (DRB). Following the pipe strike, the parties agreed to submit their dispute to the DRB, comprised of three neutral experts with roughly 100 years of relevant expertise. CP 3438, 3440, 3442-43; Ex 2 at 130-33 (§ 24.2), Exs 2611-13. The DRB unanimously concluded that the steel well casing was a DSC under the Contract Documents. Ex 2671 at 8-9, 17; RP 1827.

Rather than follow *Bignold*, the appellate court instead relied on the appellate decision in *Vinci*. ¹¹ But *Vinci* is easily distinguished. There, the GBR *identified* a specific subsurface condition (transitions) that the contractor claimed arose *too frequently*, a theory that *Vinci* soundly rejected. 191 Wn. App. at 167, 169-70. But WSDOT identified no steel in the tunnel alignment, so it retained that contractual risk. Because the added extracontractual elements were plainly irrelevant to the contractual definition of a DSC, the DSC analysis in *Vinci* is both legally and factually inapposite.

Thus, the trial court's two added tort-like elements (reliance and foreseeability) added nothing but confusion here: (1) of course STP "reasonably relied on" the conditions identified in the Contract Documents; and (2) of

¹¹ *Vinci* cannot displace *Bignold*. See, e.g., *State v. Smith*, 124 Wn. App. 417, 434 n.8, 102 P.3d 158 (2004) (appellate court cannot overrule this Court) (cite omitted).

course STP was not required to "foresee" differing site conditions not identified in the Contract Documents. The trial court's DSC instruction was thus legally incorrect, confusing, and misleading. The appellate decision erroneously upheld this prejudicial jury instruction in direct conflict with both *Bignold* and *Berschauer/Phillips*. This Court should grant review to address this conflict.¹²

_

¹² The appellate decision incorrectly holds that STP failed to properly raise this issue on appeal. Opinion at 12 n.5. On the contrary, this was STP's lead argument on appeal (see BA 15-18) and STP specifically assigned error to the trial court's incorrect DSC instruction (BA 4), which directly led the jury to erroneously find in WSDOT's favor on the DSC issue. In other words, the erroneous DSC finding is both a standalone issue *and* it satisfies the prejudice requirement regarding the trial court's DSC instructions. The Court of Appeals failed to recognize this crucial point. WSDOT, too, argued that the DSC issue could be decided as a matter of law. BR 45-46.

2. The appellate decision's spoliation analysis conflicts with *Cook*.

The appellate decision disposes of the spoliation issue as a "harmless error." Opinion 27, 30. That holding directly conflicts with *Cook*:

In practice, an adverse inference instruction often ends litigation—it is too difficult a hurdle for the spoliator to overcome.

190 Wn. App. at 466 (quoting **Zubulake**, 220 F.R.D. at 219-20). This conflict warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Indeed, the record here confirms what *Cook* clearly states: adverse inference instructions are "too difficult a hurdle ... to overcome." WSDOT exploited the trial court's spoliation rulings throughout the trial, successfully painting STP in a bad light and severely damaging its credibility. Indeed, WSDOT mentioned spoliation three times in its opening alone, ending with: "They're not entitled to anything based on evidence that they themselves have lost or destroyed." RP 602-04, 607, 611. WSDOT featured a demonstrative exhibit with the heading, "Lost or Destroyed"

Evidence," also asking witness after witness about the "lost or destroyed" pipe pieces, boulders, and journal. 13 WSDOT raised the issue five times in closing, emphasizing that while STP claimed Piece 5 damaged the TBM, it did not even originate from TW-2 per the instructions. 14 WSDOT asked, "how in the world could [STP] have lost or destroyed every piece of TW-2 that it claims caused the damage and the granite boulders?" RP 6335. Since the trial court had excluded all rebuttal evidence, STP could not contest WSDOT's assertions.

Had the appellate court decided the prejudice issue in accordance with *Cook*, the result on appeal would have been different. For instance, the *Cook* court also recognized that "only intentional spoliation logically supports an adverse inference." 190 Wn. App. at 451. But

¹³ RP 1356-59, 1371 (Laird); 2359-66, 2409-12 (Hauser); 3762-66, 3773 (Magro); 5039-41, 5068-71, 5128-29 (Klopp); 5178-79, 5194 (Biggart).

¹⁴ RP 6335-36; see also 6322, 6337, 6395.

here, the trial court gave two devastating adverse-inference jury instructions despite expressly finding that "STP did not intentionally destroy or hide the missing pipe pieces and boulders" and that "Hauser did not intentionally destroy or hide the missing journal volume." CP 3250 (FF 122-23). The appellate decision failed to reach this dispositive issue (and others) under its erroneous harmless error analysis. For this reason too, review is warranted.

B. This appeal raises issues of substantial public interest that this Court should determine, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

As the appellate decision notes, the Contract at issue here relates to "a critical piece of transportation infrastructure for Seattle." Opinion 2. STP's losses resulting from the pipe strike total hundreds of millions of dollars. CP 3580-3623. By rewriting the parties' agreement to include noncontractual requirements for recovery and critically undermining STP's credibility by erroneously imposing spoliation sanctions, the trial court deprived STP

of the contractual payments it was entitled to receive and conferred an unwarranted windfall on WSDOT.¹⁵ Whether STP should be deprived of the benefit of its bargain under the Design-Build Contract based on a series of legal errors – or mere technicalities¹⁶ – is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

The appellate decision also raises substantial issues of grave importance to Washington's construction industry. In *Berschauer/Phillips*, this Court stated that "it is in this

_

¹⁵ See, e.g., **Mason v. Mortg. Am., Inc.**, 114 Wn.2d 842, 849, 792 P.2d 142 (1990) ("Contract damages are ordinarily based on the injured party's expectation interest and are intended to give that party the benefit of the bargain by awarding him or her a sum of money that will, to the extent possible, put the injured party in as good a position as that party would have been in had the contract been performed").

¹⁶ The appellate decision repeatedly declines to reach significant issues based on alleged rules violations. *See, e.g.*, Opinion 2 n.1, 12 n.5 & 15 n.6. Yet RAP 1.2(a) – which requires that appeals be decided on their merits – unequivocally provides that cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with the RAPs

industry that we see most clearly the importance of the precise allocation of risk as secured by contract." 124 Wn.2d at 826-27. Despite this recognition, the trial court gave a DSC instruction that includes two irrelevant and confusing noncontractual elements (reliance and foreseeability) to which the parties did not agree. Those tort-like elements have *nothing* to do with whether steel was a DSC under the Design-Build Contract.¹⁷

For all these reasons, this Petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

¹⁷ While the appellate decision attempts to factually "distinguish" *Berschauer/Phillips*, that misses the point entirely: "In light of the express DSC definition in the Design-Build Contract, [adding two irrelevant and confusing elements to the contractual definition of a DSC] was error under the clear articulation of risk-allocation principles in *Berschauer/Phillips*." BA 19-20. It is *Berschauer/Phillips*' legal principles that control here.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).