FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/10/2022 12:27 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101077-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent,

V.

SEATTLE TUNNEL PARTNERS, a joint venture; TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION; and DRAGADOS USA, INC.,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert W. Ferguson ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF WASHINGTON Guy W. Bowman, WSBA #29214 Assistant Attorney General Transportation and Public Construction Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW Olympia, WA 98504-0113

Phone: 360-753-1626

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Entirely Consistent with Washington Law on DSC Claims

Under Washington law, a DSC claim⁹ has four elements in addition to causation and damages: (1) the contract documents indicated certain conditions, (2) the contractor reasonably relied on those indications when bidding, (3) the actual conditions materially differed from those indicated in the contract, and (4) the materially different conditions were not foreseeable. *See King County v. Vinci Constr. Grands Projets*, 191 Wn. App. 142, 165-66, 364 P.3d 784 (2015) ("*Brightwater*" 10), *aff'd on other issues*, 188 Wn.2d 618 (2017); *see also, e.g., Md. Cas. Co. v. City of Seattle*, 9 Wn.2d 666, 670, 116 P.2d 280 (1941) (addressing the first three elements); *Basin Paving Co.*

⁹ Also called a changed conditions claim. *See, e.g., King County v. Vinci Constr. Grands Projets*, 191 Wn. App. 142, 165, 364 P.3d 784 (2015), *aff'd on other issues*, 188 Wn.2d 618 (2017).

¹⁰ In the trial court, the parties and the court referred to this case as "*Brightwater*" because that was the name of the construction project for King County's expanded wastewater treatment system. WSDOT used the same reference in its Court of Appeals briefing and does so here.

v. Mike M. Johnson, Inc., 107 Wn. App. 61, 67-68, 27 P.3d 609 (2001) (addressing the fourth element), rev. denied, 145 Wn.2d 1018 (2002).

The instruction on STP's DSC claim was entirely consistent with this well-established law. The instruction's first and second elements reflected the Contract's DSC definition and the first and third *Brightwater* elements. *Compare* CP 10679 *with* Ex 3:12 *and Brightwater*, 191 Wn. App. at 166. STP does not challenge these elements.

The instruction's third and fourth elements were that STP reasonably relied on the conditions indicated in the Contract Documents in making its bid and that the materially different condition STP encountered was not foreseeable to STP at bid time. CP 10679. STP argues these elements should not have been included in the instruction. But as discussed below, these elements were based on long-standing and well-established state law.

The *Brightwater* court drew the reasonable reliance element from the *Maryland Casualty* case. *Brightwater*, 191 Wn. App. at 165-66. There, this Court announced as a "basic principle of law" that when "plans or specifications lead a public contractor *reasonably to believe* that conditions indicated therein exist, and may be relied upon in making his bid, he will be entitled to compensation for extra work or

expense made necessary by conditions being other than as so represented." *Md. Cas.*, 9 Wn.2d at 670 (emphasis added; internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also Dravo Corp. v. Mun. of Metro. Seattle*, 79 Wn.2d 214, 218, 484 P.2d 399 (1971) (citing the same principle); *Nelson Constr. Co. of Ferndale, Inc. v. Port of Bremerton*, 20 Wn. App. 321, 328-29, 582 P.2d 511 (1978) (same). Including the reasonable reliance element in the instruction therefore was entirely consistent with Washington's DSC case law.

The *Brightwater* court drew the lack of foreseeability element from the *Basin Paving* case. *Brightwater*, 191 Wn. App. at 166. The contractor in *Basin Paving* encountered more rock than expected when boring a tunnel for the Town of Lind's wastewater and water system project; the contractor argued that the unexpected amount of rock was a compensable changed condition because it exceeded the town's projections based on boring tests. *Basin Paving*, 107 Wn. App. at 65. The Court of Appeals disagreed, holding that recovery is "limited to when the 'condition complained of could not reasonably have been anticipated by either party to the contract." *Id.* (quoting *Bignold v. King County*, 65 Wn.2d 817, 821-22, 399 P.2d 611 (1965)).

Citing *Bignold*, the *Basin Paving* court concluded that a contractor "cannot recover additional compensation for a 'changed

condition,' if the complained of condition was foreseeable." Id. at 67-68 (citation omitted). It upheld the dismissal of the contractor's claim, in part because it was foreseeable that there was more subsurface rock than was indicated in the test data. *Id.* at 68. Thus, it also was entirely consistent with Washington DSC law for the trial court in this case to include the lack of foreseeability element in the instruction. See also Modern Builders, Inc. of Tacoma v. Manke, 27 Wn. App. 86, 94, 615 P.2d 1332 (1980) (holding no quantum meruit recovery was warranted for additional work when the need for such work was "clearly foreseeable by a reasonable contractor at the time of contract formation"); Nelson Constr., 20 Wn. App. at 329-30 (upholding rejection of changed conditions claim because the actual conditions "were not reasonably unanticipated").

1. The Decision Does Not Conflict with *Bignold*

Contrary to STP's argument, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with the *Bignold* decision. The *Bignold* ruling rested on a key factual finding by the trial court, which was that the subsurface conditions encountered by the contractor (huge boulders and material too wet to use for embankment purposes) "were materially different from conditions indicated on the plans." 65 Wn.2d at 822 (emphasis added). Here, the Contract Documents did not indicate that TW-2's

well casing was made of something other than steel. There simply was no basis for a factual finding that the condition encountered (TW-2 and its casing) was materially different from the conditions indicated in the Contract Documents. *See Brightwater*, 191 Wn. App. at 167-68.

2. The Decision Does Not Conflict with Berschauer/Phillips

Berschauer/Phillips Construction Co. v. Seattle School District No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 881 P.2d 986 (1994), also does not help STP. As the Court of Appeals explained, when there is a contract dispute and a clause that addresses the disputed issue but does not fully incorporate all the elements of the legal standard applicable to the dispute, Berschauer/Phillips does not bar inclusion of the omitted elements to resolve the dispute, even if the omitted elements are "tort-like." Slip op. at 18-19. Parties in construction delay disputes may be limited to listed contractual remedies, but Berschauer/Phillips does not say that the legal elements of a claim are limited.

As discussed above, the applicable legal standard for DSC claims has long included the reasonable reliance and lack of foreseeability elements. STP fails to cite evidence that the Contract eliminated those elements or that STP negotiated for that result. And nowhere did the Contract dictate that a contractor's DSC claim would hinge solely on

the DSC definition. Accordingly, the trial court's incorporation of the reasonable reliance and lack of foreseeability elements into the DSC instruction posed no threat to the certainty and predictability underlying the Contract and was not a legal error.

Because the Court of Appeals' decision to uphold the instruction does not conflict with any ruling by this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not provide a basis for this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue.

3. The Decision Is Consistent with Federal DSC Law

Notably, Washington courts are not alone in ruling that reasonable reliance and lack of foreseeability are essential elements of a DSC claim. For example, in *International Technology Corp. v. Winter*, 523 F.3d 1341, 1348-48 (Fed. Cir. 2008), the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals explained that in a government contract, a misrepresentation of site conditions can support a common law breach of contract claim or a DSC claim brought under the DSC clause common in government contracts, but both types of claim require reasonable reliance on the contractual representation and lack of foreseeability as to the actual condition encountered. Many other federal decisions involving DSC claims have also required reasonable

reliance and lack of foreseeability. See, e.g., Phillips & Jordan, Inc. v. United States, 158 Fed. Cl. 313, 328 (2022); Marine Indus. Constr., LLC v. United States, 158 Fed. Cl. 158, 188 (2022); Renda Marine, Inc. v. United States, 66 Fed. Cl. 639, 655-56 (2005); Connor Bros. Constr. Co. v. United States, 65 Fed. Cl. 657, 680-81 (2005).

In sum, under both federal and state law, while a contract may define a DSC as a subsurface condition that is materially different from the conditions indicated in the contract documents, recovery on a DSC claim also necessarily requires proof of reasonable reliance and lack of foreseeability. Otherwise, a contractor could pursue a DSC claim and be awarded compensation beyond its bid price even if it knew full well, and took into account when making its bid, that the contract documents omitted a detail in the description of the subsurface conditions. Although that is not and should not be the law, that would be the consequence if STP's arguments were accepted.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Entirely Consistent with Washington Spoliation Law

STP argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the ruling in *Cook v. Tarbert Logging, Inc.*, 190 Wn. App. 448, 360 P.3d 855 (2015). That simply is not true.

First, on the issue of the propriety of different types of spoliation sanctions, as Division One recently concluded in the case of *J.K. by Wolf v. Bellevue School District No. 405*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 291, 312, 500 P.3d 138 (2021), *Cook* is distinguishable because in that case there was no duty to preserve the destroyed evidence. Here, as in *J.K.*, there was a duty to preserve the evidence. And here, as in *J.K.*, the party with that duty failed to meet it.

Second, adverse inference instructions are the traditional remedy for spoliation. See Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 379, 385-86, 573 P.2d 2 (1977) ("We have previously held on several occasions that where relevant evidence which would properly be a part of a case is within the control of a party whose interests it would naturally be to produce it and he fails to do so, without satisfactory explanation, the only inference which the finder of fact may draw is that such evidence would be unfavorable to him."); Henderson v. Tyrrell, 80 Wn. App. 592, 605, 910 P.2d 522 (1996) (noting that an adverse inference instruction has been "the common remedy" for spoliation); see also Perez v. U.S. Postal Serv., No. C12-00315 RSM, 2014 WL 10726125, at *2 (W.D. Wash. July 30, 2014) (acknowledging that an adverse inference instruction is an appropriate spoliation sanction).

Third, STP ignores the key point of the Court of Appeals' harmless error rulings. With respect to the instruction regarding the lost or destroyed pipe pieces and boulders, "STP identifie[d] nothing to indicate that the adverse instruction relating to what caused the damage to the TBM, a question the jury never reached, had any bearing on the jury's decision" on the threshold question of whether TW-2's casing was a DSC. Slip op. at 29. With respect to the instruction regarding the lost or destroyed journal, STP "provide[d] no evidence" suggesting the jury used that instruction to infer that TW-2's casing was not a DSC. *Id.* Further, the Court of Appeals noted the instruction indicated that any information in the journal "would have likely concerned the causation element, not the DSC element." *Id.* at 30. Because the jury did not reach the causation question, even if giving the instructions had been an abuse of discretion (it was not), it was harmless.

In any event, STP does not deny that it lost or destroyed the critical evidence that was described in the instructions. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, "the instructions did not paint STP in any worse light than the evidence of the conduct itself, the admission of which STP does not challenge." *Id.* at 29 n.10. At trial, STP did not once object to WSDOT's references to STP's loss or destruction of key pieces of evidence and did not object to the admission of Exhibit 249,

which identified the pipe and metal pieces and the boulders that STP lost or destroyed. RP 1356-57.

STP has not established that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. The Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Warrants Review by This Court

The Court of Appeals' decision does not break new ground with respect to DSC claims or spoliation sanctions. It is also unpublished and therefore has no precedential value. *See* GR 14.1(a). Under these circumstances, there is no reason this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. CONCLUSION

STP's Petition for Review should be denied.

I certify that this document contains 4,976 words, excluding the words in the items listed in RAP 18.17(c).